F	$\mathbf{I} \mathbf{L} \mathbf{E} \mathbf{D}$
	SID J. WHITE
IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA	SEP 12 1994
TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA	K, SUPREME COURT
CASE NO: 84,156	Chief Deputy Clerk

# FERGUSON TRANSPORTATION, INC., f/k/a MURRAY VAN & STORAGE, INC.,

Petitioner,

vs.

NORTH AMERICAN VAN LINES, INC., etc.,

Respondent.

# PETITIONER'S AMENDED BRIEF ON THE MERITS

SEARCY, DENNEY, SCAROLA, BARNHART & SHIPLEY, P.A. P. O. Drawer 3626 West Palm Beach, FL 33402 and CARUSO, BURLINGTON, BOHN & COMPIANI, P.A. Suite 3-A/Barristers Bldg. 1615 Forum Place West Palm Beach, FL 33401 Attorneys for Petitioner

#

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Ferguson Transportation, a Florida moving and storage company, had an exclusive agency agreement allowing it to act as the exclusive agent of NAVL, a nationwide interstate carrier of household goods, in Broward County.<sup>1</sup> NAVL breached that agreement by appointing Advance Relocation, another Florida moving and storage company, to act as its agent in Broward County also. After refusing to terminate Advance Relocation, over the next four years NAVL joined with Advance Relocation to induce Broward County customers to book interstate moves with Advance Relocation, all to Ferguson Transportation's detriment. NAVL's breach of contract and NAVL and Advance Relocation's tortious interference destroyed Ferguson Transportation's business.

Ferguson Transportation sued NAVL and other Defendants (Advance Relocation, Molloy and Grochowski), who are not involved in this appeal. Ferguson Transportation's first claim against NAVL was for breach of its exclusive agency agreement to represent NAVL in Broward County. Its second claim was against NAVL, Advance Relocation, Molloy and Grochowski for tortious interference with its advantageous business relationships with its existing and prospective Broward County customers (R1752-56).

The jury subsequently returned a verdict finding that NAVL had breached its agency agreement with Ferguson Transportation; and that NAVL, Advance Relocation,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>/The definition of "household goods" for purposes of interstate commerce goes far beyond its ordinary meaning and includes office furniture, high value products, etc. 49 U.S.C. 10102.

Molloy and Grochowski had tortiously interfered with Ferguson Transportation's advantageous business relationships with its established and prospective customers in Broward County. The jury awarded Ferguson Transportation 1.3 million dollars in compensatory damages on each count, and the jury assessed 13 million dollars in punitive damages against NAVL, \$500,000 against Advance Relocation, \$100,000 against Molloy and \$100,000 against Grochowski (R3225-27).

The jury had been allowed to award compensatory damages on each of Ferguson Transportation's claims. However, in order to prevent a duplicative award against NAVL, the parties had stipulated prior to jury deliberations that only one of the compensatory damage awards would be entered against NAVL (R1419-21,3228-29). Accordingly, Final Judgment was entered pursuant to the parties' <u>stipulation</u>.

In denying Defendants' post-trial motions, the court stated (R3549-50):

The Defendants' motions for remittitur are each denied. The Defendants have sought a remittitur of both compensatory and punitive damages. The Court has reviewed the jury's award pursuant to applicable case law and Florida Statute **§768.74**. Regarding damages, both punitive and compensatory, the Court finds as follows: The amounts awarded were not indicative of prejudice, passion or corruption on the part of the trier of fact. The case was presented in a very professional and straightforward manner by all parties. The transcript is an accurate reflection of the proceedings in the court and the atmosphere of the trial was not such as to arouse the prejudice or passions of the jury and there is no basis or claim of any sort ["of"] corruption on the part of the jury.

It does not appear that the facts were ignored by the jury in reaching their verdict or that they misconceived the

2

merits of the case relating to the amounts of damages recoverable. The verdict is in line with the Plaintiff's presentation of the case and the jury had the discretion to accept the Plaintiff's version.

The jury was properly instructed on the elements of damages and the Court is not aware of any basis for concluding that the damages awarded were due to taking improper elements into account or due to speculation and conjecture. The punitive damage awards when viewed in a light favorable to the Plaintiff appear to be based on an assessment of the net worth of the parties and on the underlying facts of the case. The punitive damages awarded do not bear a reasonable relationship to the amount of compensatory damages proven and the injury actually suffered by the Defendant, but that is not their purpose. Their purpose is retribution and deterrence. <u>E.g.</u>, PACIFIC MUTUAL LIFE INSURANCE CO. v. HASLIP, 111 S.Ct. 1032 (1991) at 1044. The punitive damages awarded could be adduced in a logical manner by reasonable persons.

The fact that the punitive damage award against North American Van Lines, Inc. is precisely ten times the compensatory damage award has been considered by the Court. But there is logic and justification in the record for the award and the award falls within the wide latitude allowed the jury in awarding punitive damages. The award does not violate the Due Process rights of the Defendants.

NAVL appealed. Advance Relocation, Molloy and Grochowski joined in filing

a separate appeal. The Fourth District entered a <u>per\_curiam</u> affirmance of both the compensatory and punitive damage awards against Advance Relocation, Molloy and Grochowski for tortious interference with advantageous business relationships.

In NAVL's appeal, the court affirmed the 1.3 million dollar compensatory damage award against NAVL, but it reversed the punitive damage award, finding that Ferguson Transportation had failed to prove the first element of the tort of tortious interference, i.e., "the existence of a business relationship under which the plaintiff has legal rights" A5).<sup>2</sup> The Fourth District acknowledged that Ferguson Transportation had an exclusive agency agreement which allowed it, and only it, to deal as NAVL's representative with all prospective Broward County customers. However, the Fourth District concluded that Ferguson Transportation's exclusive contract gave it no protectable interest against tortious interference with prospective NAVL customers in Broward County. Rather, the court ruled that in order for Ferguson Transportation to be able to sue for tortious interference with prospective NAVL customers, it had to prove that it had an <u>ongoing</u> business relationship (A7) with <u>identifiable</u> customers (A5) who were wrongfully induced to book their interstate moves with Advance Relocation.<sup>3</sup>

The Fourth District concluded that Ferguson Transportation had presented no evidence to allow the jury to conclude that but for NAVL and Advance Relocation's tortious interference, the NAVL customers who moved with Advance Relocation would have moved with Ferguson Transportation.<sup>4</sup> Accordingly, the court ruled that (A7):

 $<sup>^{2}</sup>$ /NAVL challenged the compensatory and punitive awards on numerous grounds. The Fourth District rejected all of NAVL's contentions except for this one.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>/The court relied solely upon a Second District opinion, SOUTHERN ALLIANCE CORP. v. WINTER HAVEN, 505 So.2d 489 (Fla. 2d DCA 1987), which did not concern an exclusive agency agreement, and therefore was totally distinguishable.

 $<sup>^{4}</sup>$ /As demonstrated, <u>infra</u>, that finding ignored the evidence and in effect substituted the Fourth District's finding in that regard for an obvious contrary jury finding.

The trial court should have granted a directed verdict for North American on the tortious interference claim as there was no competent, substantial evidence that appellant interfered with any <u>ongoing</u> business relationship. The punitive damages were awarded on the basis of the tortious conduct and are therefore reversed. (Emphasis added).<sup>5</sup>

The Fourth District subsequently granted Ferguson Transportation's Motion for

Certification and certified the following question to this Court as one of great public

importance (A1-2):

WHETHER, UNDER FLORIDA LAW, A PLAINTIFF WHO HAS AN EXCLUSIVE CONTRACT WITHIN A GEOGRAPHICAL TERRITORY, IS AFFORDED A BUSINESS RELATIONSHIP WITH ALL PROSPECTIVE CUSTOMERS WITHIN THAT TERRITORY, WHICH IS PROTECTABLE AGAINST TORTIOUS INTERFERENCE, OR MUST THE PLAINTIFF PROVE A BUSINESS RELATIONSHIP WITH IDENTIFIABLE CUSTOMERS?

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>/The Fourth District's affirmance of tortious interference as to Advance and reversal of tortious interference as to NAVL is inconsistent. If there was no proof of a business relationship under which Ferguson Transportation had legal rights, that would be true in regard to the claim of tortious interference against Advance Relocation as well. The reversal of tortious interference as to NAVL is also inconsistent because of the affirmance of the compensatory damages awards, which were based on proof of the loss of specific customers from which profit would have been generated but for NAVL and Advance Relocation's actions.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

## NAVL Breached Murray Van's (Ferguson Transportation's Predecessor) Exclusive Agency Agreement in 1974 by Appointing Another Agent In Its Exclusive Broward County Territory

Joe Ferguson was the minority shareholder in, and vice president and general manager of, Murray Van & Storage, Inc., a moving company, when it was formed in 1963 in Broward County (R88,392). Over the years it operated as an exclusive agent for different interstate carriers at different times. Murray Van moved up to a larger carrier each time its business outgrew the carrier it was representing (R92,96-97). In 1968, Murray Van was the third or fourth largest booking agent for American Red Ball in the entire nation (R89,92,97). When Red Ball could no longer accommodate Murray Van's volume of business, Ferguson began talking to the largest carriers in the country about becoming their agent (R97). Because of the market Murray Van had captured, it was able to, and did, insist upon an exclusive agency agreement (R97,101).

NAVL did not give exclusive agency contracts. However, it was so anxious to obtain Murray Van's established business that in 1970 NAVL agreed to make Murray Van its exclusive Broward County agent (R101-02). NAVL clearly understood that it was to appoint no other agent to solicit and advertise for business in Broward County (R102-03). The exclusivity provision was placed in an Addendum to NAVL's agency agreement with Murray Van. Ferguson was very excited about becoming an NAVL agent, and was determined to make Murray Van NAVL's best agent (R105). By 1972,

6

Ferguson had booked a million dollars in business that year, and earned the "quality agent" award, which less than 10% of NAVL's 850 agents ever receive (R105-6).

NAVL, in the meanwhile, had set about to become the largest household goods carrier in the nation (R107). To do so, it was trying to attract the big agents away from other carriers around the country (R108). NAVL approached a New York moving company, one of the largest Allied agents in the nation, and asked it to become an NAVL agent (R108). In order to entice it away from Allied, NAVL offered to sell the New York company a Miami moving company it owned (R108). This would allow it to "backhaul", i.e., schedule shipments going north for the moving vans it sent to Florida (R108), which would be very lucrative (R108,2604).

The New York company wanted to solicit and advertise in not only Dade County, but Broward and Palm Beach counties also (R108,114). NAVL knew that agreeing to this in Broward County would be a breach of its exclusive agreement with Murray Van. NAVL agreed, however, in order to attract the New York company away from Allied (R109). Accordingly, in late 1972, NAVL entered into agency agreements with the New York company and their other entities, behind Ferguson's back, allowing them to go into Broward County to advertise and solicit Murray Van's business (R114-15).

In 1973, Ferguson and his partner, Murray, learned that NAVL had intentionally violated their exclusive agency agreement (R107). NAVL offered to pay Murray Van a mere \$77,000 for any damages that might result (R110). Ferguson strongly objected, but Murray, the majority shareholder, wanted to accept the money (R110). Ultimately,

the parties entered into agreements in 1974 in which NAVL admitted that it had breached Murray Van's exclusive agency agreement, and paid \$77,000 for having done so (R116,PX52i), extending Murray Van's agency contract for 10 more years, and providing that the New York company could solicit business and advertise in Broward County as NAVL's agent, but that it could not maintain an office there (R114-15,PX52h). The Agreement specified that the exception to Murray Van's exclusive rights was limited to the New York company alone<sup>6</sup> (R116,PX52h).

Despite this exception carved out of Murray Van's exclusive agency contract, over the next 10 years Murray Van continued to grow, and captured 25% to 35% of the market (R118). Out of 850 agents, Murray Van was ranked as NAVL's fourth to sixth highest revenue producing agent in the nation (R118) . Ferguson received an NAVL award that only 28 of its 850 agents had ever received (R116). Ferguson had two books of awards, commendations, and testimonials regarding his excellence in the moving industry (R227,PX90-91). He received the Broward County Chamber of Commerce business person of the year award (R228-30). In numerous ways, Ferguson expended time and money to generate goodwill for NAVL in Broward County (R231-32).

When Murray died in 1976 (R392), Ferguson became the majority stockholder (R394), and in 1984 he became the sole shareholder (R417,434). As the renewal of contracts approached in the early eighties, Ferguson was about to build a million-dollar

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>/James Molloy, one of the Defendants in this case, was not included in the New York company exception. Neither were Defendants Grochowski or Advance Relocation.

facility in Orlando (R119), double the size of his Boca Raton facility with a half-milliondollar expansion (R119), and build a 158,000 square feet building in Deerfield Beach in order to consolidate six of his South Florida facilities (R120,428). Before he made these financial commitments, however, Ferguson wanted the assurance that he would continue to have his exclusive Broward County territory (R120,402-03,434). Accordingly, when he renegotiated Murray Van's agency agreement in 1983, he insisted that the Addendum specifically identify those entities that could act as an NAVL agent in Broward County (R120,129,404,467,PX52b). They were essentially the entities owned by the New York company (R116,PX52b).<sup>7</sup> The Addendum provided that except for the entities specifically listed, Murray Van was still NAVL's exclusive agent in Broward County, giving it the exclusive right to use NAVL's "marks", i.e. its name, logo and "colors" to advertise and solicit business for NAVL in Broward County (R129). The Addendum also provided that this exception (R116,PX52b, Addendum p.2):

> ...shall not be construed to grant Company [NAVL] the right to appoint any other individual, partnership, corporation or other business or organization as an agent for company [NAVL] in Broward County, Florida.

Relying upon the fact that he was guaranteed ten more years as NAVL's exclusive agent in Broward County, except for the New York company and its related entities with which Ferguson had been able to live, in 1984 he purchased 12.5 acres in Deerfield

 $<sup>^{7}</sup>$ /James Molloy, Grochowski, and Advance Relocation, co-Defendants in this case, were not included in the exception.

Beach and proceeded with plans for a 158,000 square-foot building (R429). He began construction in January 1985 (R431). The name of the company was changed in 1985 from Murray Van to Ferguson Transportation (R398,400).

### NAVL Again Breached Ferguson Transportation's Exclusive Agency Contract In 1986 By Appointing Advance Relocation to Act As its Agent in Palm Beach County, With the Understanding He Could Invade Ferguson Transportation's Exclusive Broward County Territory, After Being Put on Notice That This Competition Would Destroy Ferguson Transportation

James Molloy and Bill Grochowski had owned and operated Advance Relocation as NAVL agents in New York since 1979 (R666). In 1985, they purchased a moving and storage company in West Palm Beach, known as Wilkinson Moving & Storage ("Wilkinson").<sup>8</sup> They also formed Advance Relocation of Florida doing business as Wilkinson. Both Advance Relocation and Wilkinson were only local (statewide) movers. They could not handle moves in interstate commerce without operating as the agent of an authorized interstate commerce carrier.

In early 1985, James Molloy approached NAVL about becoming an NAVL agent in Palm Beach County in order to be able to backhaul to New York so their trucks would not go back empty (R140,472,664-66). This, of course, would mean more money for NAVL. Jack McTeague, NAVL's vice president for the southern states, told Molloy "no", despite the fact that he was one of NAVL's favorite agents in the Northeast because

 $<sup>^{8}</sup>$ /Wilkinson did not come within the exception to Ferguson's contract. It had never been an NAVL agent (R695).

he was a good producer in New York (R2435). McTeague opposed allowing Molloy to become NAVL's Palm Beach agent because he did not like northeast agents and did not want one in Florida (R2567-68,2603). McTeague knew that northeast agents, including Molloy, solicited and operated outside their geographical territory (R2571). Over the years, NAVL had allowed its northeast agents to invade each other's territories (R2606). This was not only very common, but rivalries between its agents were actually encouraged by NAVL (R2607-08). As NAVL's own expert testified, pitting one agent against another increased each agent's productivity (R823-24), and necessarily NAVL's profitability.

McTeague, head of NAVL in the southern states, did not allow NAVL's agents to invade each other's territories. He was concerned for Ferguson because he knew that if James Molloy, who was extremely aggressive, became an NAVL agent in Palm Beach County, he would violate Ferguson's exclusive territory by soliciting business in Broward County (R144,2570-72,2579,2582-83). For that reason, McTeague felt that the appointment of Molloy as NAVL's agent in Palm Beach County was a violation of Ferguson's contract (R2574-75). A McTeague interoffice memo forewarned that if Molloy opened in West Palm Beach "we [NAVL] will have a major problem" (PX77).

When McTeague turned Molloy and Grochowski down, they went to his boss, Dennis Koziol, NAVL's vice president of sales and marketing, who also said "no" (R140), and on to his boss, Michael Kranisky, NAVL's executive vice president, who likewise said "no" (R140). They finally approached Kenneth Maxfield, NAVL's president and CEO, who told them that he would see what he could do (R671).

On April 15, 1985, McTeague called Ferguson to alert him to what was going on, and suggested that he contact Maxfield (R141). Ferguson sent Maxfield a telegram that night emphasizing that he was making a 10 million dollar investment in south Florida,<sup>9</sup> and in light of his financial commitments, he could not withstand yet another competitor (R141-43,475-76,PX53), along with those NAVL had previously wrongfully allowed to compete with him. McTeague subsequently advised Ferguson that Maxfield had told Molloy and Grochowski "no" (R141-43,PX53).

Thereafter, Maxfield secretly met with Molloy and Grochowski and approved them as NAVL's West Palm Beach agent, despite the warnings and protests of NAVL's other executives and its law department. They discussed Ferguson's exclusive agency in Broward County (R2691-92). Molloy claimed Maxfield led him to believe that he would not be restricted to Palm Beach County regardless of his contract language (R737,PX72). He claimed Maxfield said that the only prohibition was against having another NAVL agent with an office in Broward County (R677). In other words, consistent with NAVL's management philosophy in the northeast, which allowed and encouraged agents to invade each other's territory, Molloy claimed Maxfield led him to believe that he could invade Ferguson's exclusive territory. Maxfield did so because he negotiated a much cheaper

 $<sup>^{9}</sup>$ /Ferguson was in the middle of the construction of the Deerfield Beach building (R433).

contract with Molloy than NAVL had with Ferguson Transportation, which was being paid an incentive bonus that was seven or more times what NAVL agreed to pay Molloy (R135-37). Therefore, NAVL derived an economic benefit from any business Molloy took from Ferguson Transportation (R135-38). As McTeague stated: "It was all a 'matter of profitability'" with NAVL (R2608).

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