IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FERGUSON TRANSPORTATION, INC., f/k/a Murray Van & Storage, Inc. and Award Winning Murray Van and Storage, Inc.

Petitioner,

v.

NORTH AMERICAN VAN LINES, INC., a foreign corporation,

Respondent.

NORTH AMERICAN VAN LINES, INC., a foreign corporation,

Petitioner,

v.

FERGUSON TRANSPORTATION, INC., f/k/a Murray Van & Storage, Inc. and Award Winning Murray Van and Storage, Inc.,

Respondent.

CASE NO.: 84,156

FILED

SID J. WHITE

NOV 3 19941

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

CASE NO.: 84,167

Certified Question Of Great Public Importance From The District Court Of Appeal, Fourth District

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

Plaintiff's further argument that the Fourth District's decision has done away with the tort of interference with "prospective" business relations is also incorrect. The Fourth District's ruling plainly leaves open the possibility of protection for prospective relationships. It simply requires that such prospective relations involve -- at a minimum -- identifiable parties with whom there are sufficient indicia of an existing relationship to give rise to legal rights. See, e.g., Azar v. Lehigh Corp., 364

So.2d 860, 861, 862 (Fla. 2d DCA 1978) (defendant who persuaded "prospective purchasers" to rescind their purchase contracts liable for tortious interference with prospective relations); Barnett & Klein Corp. v. President of Palm Beach-A Condominium, Inc., 426 So.2d 1074, 1075 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983) (condominium association liable for interference with contract to rent unit to "prospective" tenant).

Finally, Ferguson Transportation's argument in the alternative that it did show business relationships with identifiable customers also lacks merit. All plaintiff can point to is Joe Ferguson's allegation at trial that 99 percent of the customers who moved with Advance should have been told to move with Ferguson Transportation. Even accepting this allegation, it simply does not suffice to show that Ferguson Transportation (rather than Advance) ever had or would have had a business relationship with these Plaintiff failed to present evidence that it had customers. previously served any of Advance's customers; that it had prepared cost estimates for any of them; that it had contacted these customers; that these customers chose Advance because it was a North American agent rather than for some other reason; that these customers would have preferred Ferguson Transportation to the other North American agents authorized to operate in Broward County, let alone to any other Broward County mover; or even that any of these customers had heard of Ferguson Transportation. 6 To allow a

Indeed, Ferguson offered evidence about only one identifiable business relationship. In that case, the customer ultimately booked the move with Ferguson Transportation. (R.200) (continued...)

plaintiff to prove the first element of tortious interference by pointing to customers it has never dealt with and who have never approached it would be tantamount to eliminating that element.

Furthermore, even if Ferguson Transportation could be found to have a business relationship with Advance's customers (or with Broward County customers generally), that relationship would not give rise to "legal rights" enforceable through a tort claim. Joe Ferguson conceded that Advance could move Broward County customers so long as the relationship was not the product of Advance's advertising in Broward County. (R.518, 520-521) He had no legal right to compel any potential customer in Broward County to use Ferguson Transportation. Each of plaintiff's potential customers, including those that moved with Advance, were free to move with the other North American agents authorized to move customers in Broward County, or with an agent of any other national moving company. Where, as here, the alleged relationship does not convey any legal rights, no claim for tortious interference may be maintained. Lake Gateway Motor Inn, Inc. v. Mott's Sunshine Gift Shop, Inc., 361 So.2d at 772; Water & Sewer Util., 440 So.2d at 429; MD Assoc. v. Friedman, 556 So.2d at 1159; Greenberg v. Mount Sinai Medical Ctr., Inc., 629 So.2d 252, 255 (Fla. 3d DCA 1993); Brown v. Larkin & Shea, P.A., 522 So.2d 500, 501 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988).

^{6 (...}continued)
Unsuccessful interference cannot support a tort claim. American
Medical Int'l Inc. v. Scheller, 462 So.2d 1, 9 (Fla. 4th DCA
1984), review denied, 471 So.2d 44 (Fla.), cert. denied, 474 U.S.
947 (1985).

C. Plaintiff's Proposed Expansion Of Tort Law Is Unnecessary And Unsound

Even apart from the doctrinal conflicts discussed above. plaintiff's proposed expansion of tort liability should be rejected as unnecessary and unwise. As plaintiff itself points out, "'[t]he tort action for interference with business relations which are prospective or potential developed at an early date, in cases having to do with physical violence or threats thereof to drive away customers from the plaintiff's market.'" Pet.Br. 31 (quoting 45 Am.Jur.2d Interference § 50). Whatever proof of identifiable customers a court might require in a case involving "physical violence or threats thereof," it seems plain that there is no cause for expanding the scope of tortious interference in this case, which involves solely an economic, contractual dispute. Numerous commentators have recommended against expanding the scope of tortious interference with business relations, particularly where contract remedies are available. The broader the tort, the greater the risk of stifling legitimate competition, to the detriment of the public interest.7

See, e.g., G. Myers, The Differing Treatment Of Efficiency And Competition In Antitrust And Tortious Interference Law, 77 Minn. L. Rev. 1097, 1100 (1993) (imposing liability for interference with voidable and prospective relations "gives excessive protection to tenuous contractual relationships at the expense of competition and efficiency," and "often leads to litigation and may chill legitimate business practices that potentially would benefit consumers"); H. Perlman, Interference With Contract And Other Economic Expectancies: A Clash Of Tort And Contract Doctrine, 49 U. Chi. L. Rev. 61, 79 (1982) (endorsing an approach that restricts liability for tortious interference to cases where defendant's act is independently wrongful); Sales, The Tort Of Interference With Contract: An Argument For Requiring A "Valid (continued...)

These risks are particularly great here. The essence of competition is the right to compete for prospective customers. Notably, Florida courts have expressly and repeatedly held that interference is permissible even with an existing contractual relationship where the contract is terminable at will, on the theory that such contracts create only a mere "expectancy" that the relationship will continue. See, e.g., Greenberg v. Mount Sinai Medical Ctr., Inc., 629 So.2d 252, 255 (Fla. 3d DCA 1993); Brown V. Larkin & Shea, P.A., 522 So.2d 500, 501 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988) (because the contracts at issue were terminable at will, there was "only a bare expectancy, rather than a legal right, that the relationship would continue"). Florida law thus recognizes the need to limit the scope of tortious interference claims in order to "preserve the competitive free enterprise system which forms the basis for the American economy." Wackenhut Corp. v. Maimone, 389 So.2d 656, 657 (Fla. 4th DCA 1980); see Lake Gateway Motor Inn, supra, 361 So.2d 769, 772.

The expansion of tort liability which Ferguson Transportation urges conflicts with these principles. At a minimum, the prospect that violation of an exclusive agency agreement could lead to a massive punitive damages award would reduce the willingness of

^{7 (...}continued)
Existing Contract" To Restrain The Use Of Tort Law In Circumventing Contract Law Remedies, 22 Texas Tech L. Rev. 123, 152 (1991) ("the expanding tort of interference must be constrained"); Note, J. Danforth, Tortious Interference With Contract: A Reassertion of Society's Interest In Commerical Stability and Contractual Integrity, 81 Colum. L. Rev. 1491, 1515 (1981) ("[t]he extension of tortious interference liability to include interference with prospective contracts is a long-standing and fundamental error in many jurisdictions").

parties to enter into such agreements, thereby artificially restricting use of one approach by which national chains compete. Moreover, plaintiff's rule would create a strong disincentive to competition among agents of one entity -- a result directly contrary to consumer and economic welfare.

Against these costs, plaintiff's proposed expansion of tort liability offers no compensating benefits. A tort remedy is not needed to make Ferguson Transportation whole. It is evident from the duplicative damages awards that contract law provided Ferguson Transportation with comprehensive compensatory relief. The only effect of expanding this tort would be to allow the recovery of punitive damages for breach of contract -- a step that this Court has already explicitly refused to take. Lewis v. Guthartz, 428 So.2d at 223.

Finally, Ferguson Transportation's novel tort theory is inherently unsound. This theory, if accepted, could create "business relationships" between Ferguson Transportation and potential Broward County customers who had never heard of the company, or who preferred to deal with another agent or with another moving company. Furthermore, only parties to the contract would be capable of interfering with the newly created business relationships. If exclusivity provisions were held to create general business relationships protectible against interference from any competitor, then attempts by agents for other moving companies to compete for Broward County business would be tortious. That result is obviously unacceptable. But by limiting enforcement

of the tort to the contracting parties, one is left with a tort claim that simply duplicates a pre-existing contract remedy.

In summary, neither precedent, policy nor logic supports plaintiff's novel theory. This Court should reaffirm the rule that plaintiffs must prove all the elements of a separate and independent tort, including the existence of business relationships under which they have legal rights, in order to recover for tortious interference.

D. North American Was An Essential Party To Plaintiff's Relationships With Customers

The judgment below should be affirmed on yet another basis. Under Florida law, a cause of action for tortious interference does not exist against one who is himself a party to the business relationship allegedly interfered with. Ethyl Corp. v. Balter, 386 So.2d 1220, 1224 (Fla. 3d DCA 1980), petition denied, 392 So.2d 1371 (Fla. 1981), cert. denied, 452 U.S. 955 (1981); Genet Co. v. Anheuser-Busch, Inc., 498 So.2d 683, 684 (Fla. 3d DCA 1986).8

North American was an indispensable party to any possible relationship between Ferguson Transportation and its potential Broward county customers. The evidence showed that North American was a party on the bill of lading governing any shipment moving out of Broward County, whether handled by Ferguson Transportation or

^{8 &}lt;u>See also Rabren</u> v. <u>Gulf Towing Co.</u>, 434 So.2d 340, 341 (Fla. 2d DCA 1983); <u>Covert</u> v. <u>Terri Aviation</u>, <u>Inc.</u>, 197 So.2d 12, 13 (Fla. 3d DCA 1967); <u>Days</u> v. <u>Florida East Coast Ry. Co.</u>, 165 So.2d 434 (Fla. 3d DCA 1964).

Advance. (R.537) Thus, North American would have been a party to any business relationships upon which plaintiff's tort claims could be based.

Furthermore, North American's contract with Ferguson Transportation expressly provided that the relationship between the parties was that of principal and agent. (R.1761) Florida courts have recognized that an agent "cannot be considered to be a separate entity outside of the contractual relationship" for purposes of tortious interference. Abbruzzo v. Haller, 603 So.2d 1338, 1340 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992); citing Cedar Hill Properties Corp. v. Eastern Fed. Corp., 575 So.2d 673, 676 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991); West v. Troelstrup, 367 So.2d 253, 255 (Fla. 1st DCA 1979). Although these cases involve alleged interference by the agent, the underlying rationale applies a fortiori to an agent's claim that a principal party has tortiously interfered in the relationship.

Plaintiff argues that North American would not be a party to the relationships between it and potential customers because "the contract and the business relationships created under the contract are separate and distinct." A similar distinction was rejected in <u>Genet Co.</u> v. <u>Anheuser-Busch</u>, <u>Inc.</u>, <u>supra</u>. The court

Pet.Br. at 42, citing Scheller v. American Medical Int'l., Inc., 502 So.2d 1268, 1272 (Fla. 4th DCA 1987), corected on reh'g, 12 Fla. L.Wekly 815 (Fla. 4th DCA 1987), review denied 513 So.2d 1060 (Fla. 1987) and Fasco Indus. v. Armbruster Prods., 19 Fla. Weekly D1537, 1538 (Fla. 4th DCA July 20, 1994). As discussed below, Scheller did not involve alleged interference by an essential party to the relationship. In Fasco Industries, the concurring opinion makes clear that the defendant sought to justify his interference with a contract between the plaintiff and another party by referring to a separate contract, involving a different patent, between the plaintiff and defendant. These cases do not support Ferguson's position.

held that a manufacturer could not be held liable for tortious interference for refusing to approve the transfer of ownership of a liquor wholesale business. Even though Anheuser-Busch was not a party to the purchase contract, the court held that Anheuser-Busch "was not a disinterested third party to plaintiffs' agreement." 498 So.2d at 684. See also id. (tortious interference "does not exist where the defendant was the source of the business opportunity allegedly interfered with"); citing A.R.E.E.A., Inc. v. Goldstein, 411 So.2d 310 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982). 10 Not only is North American not a "disinterested third party" to Transportation's relationships with its customers, it is actually a party to any completed transaction, as well as the source of Ferguson Transportation's ability to represent itself as an agent of a national company.

Plaintiff has previously argued that <u>Genet</u> is inconsistent with <u>Scheller</u> v. <u>American Medical Int'l., Inc.</u>, <u>supra</u>, 502 So.2d 1268, 1272. 11 Unlike the defendant here and in <u>Genet</u>,

See also Ryan v. Brooklyn Eye & Ear Hosp., 46 A.D.2d 87, 91, 360 N.Y.S.2d 912, 916 (App. Div. 1974) ("[t]he plaintiff may not assert a cause against the [contracting party] for inducing the breach of a contract right which could only have come from the [contracting party] in the first place").

Amended Answer Brief of Ferguson Transportation, Inc. (filed May 31, 1993 in Fourth District Court of Appeal) at 43. Ferguson Transportation also argued that the manufacturer in <u>Genet</u> had a contractual right to approve or disapprove the transfer, while in this case the contract between North American and Ferguson does not give North American the "right to interfere." <u>Id</u>. at 43. This argument, however, merely serves to highlight the recurrent fact that Ferguson Transportation's real complaint in this case arises directly from the terms of the contract between North American and Plaintiff. Under Florida law, the terms of the contract, and any breach thereof, cannot serve as the basis for liability for tortious interference.

however, in Scheller the defendant was not an essential party to the relationships between the plaintiff and other third parties. Plaintiff also argued that parties to a contract can be liable if they "directly" interfere with the relationship. None of the cases it cites so hold. In Action Orthopedics v. Techmedica, Inc., 759 F. Supp. 1566, 1572 (M.D. Fla. 1991) the Court did not dismiss the tort claim because "the facts surrounding the breach of contract and the separate and distinct tort are not interlaced. . . . " In Nordyne v. Florida Mobile Home Supply, 625 So.2d 1283 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993), no breach of contract was alleged or proved, nor was it established that the defendant manufacturer was a party to contracts between the distributor and its customers. In GNB, Inc. v. United Danco Batteries, Inc., 627 So.2d 492 (Fla. 2d DCA 1993), separate tortious conduct was proven and separate damages were Finally, in AFS v. Lewis, 519 So.2d 26 (Fla. 5th DCA awarded. 1987), the defendant was not a party to any contractual relationship with the plaintiffs.

E. Vicarious Liability Provides No Basis For Reversal

Plaintiff also claims that North American may be held vicariously liable for the tortious acts of Advance. This argument lacks merit.

Plaintiff's initial argument, that North American must be held vicariously liable for Advance's actions based on Section 10934 of the Interstate Commerce Act, 49 U.S.C. § 10934, was not raised below. That statute is irrelevant here, because there is no evidence that Congress intended Section 10934 to preempt or modify

state tort law. <u>See e.g.</u>, 49 U.S.C. § 10934(a) (scope limited to services "subject to the jurisdiction of the Commission").

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